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STATEMENT OF SUBJECT MATTER 
AND APPELLATE JURISDICTION 

 
This case is before the Court on the petition of John Jolliff and Steven 

Daniels (collectively “Petitioners”) to review an order of the National Labor 

Relations Board (“the Board”).  The Board had jurisdiction over the proceeding 
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below pursuant to Section 10(a) of the National Labor Relations Act (“the Act”), 

29 U.S.C. § 160(a), which empowers the Board to prevent unfair labor practices 

affecting commerce.  This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Section 10(f) of the 

Act, 29 U.S.C. § 160(f), because the unfair labor practices alleged in the complaint 

occurred in East Liberty, Ohio.   

 The Board’s Decision and Order was issued on July 24, 2006, and is 

reported at 347 NLRB No. 55, 2006 WL 2078837.  (D&O 1-11, JA 5-15.)1  That 

order is final under Section 10(f) of the Act.  The petition for review, filed on 

November 15, 2006, was timely, for the Act places no time limitation on such 

filings.  The respondent in the underlying unfair labor practice proceeding, TNT 

Logistics of North America, Inc. (“the Company”), has intervened in support of the 

Board’s request to deny the petition for review. 

                                                 
1 Pursuant to this Court’s Rules 28, 30, and 31, filing of the joint appendix 

was deferred until after the filing of proof briefs.  Record references in this final 
brief are to both the original record and joint appendix.  “Tr” refers to the transcript 
of the unfair labor practice hearing; “GX” refers to exhibits introduced at the 
hearing by the General Counsel; “RX” refers to exhibits introduced by the 
Company; and “D&O” refers to the Board’s Decision and Order.  “JA” refers to 
the parties’ joint appendix.  “Br” refers to Petitioners’ opening brief.  Record 
references preceding the semicolon are to the Board’s findings; those following are 
to the supporting evidence. 
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STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT 

 The Board believes that the briefs and record demonstrate that this case 

involves the routine application of settled principles to well-supported findings of 

fact.  As a result, the Board submits that oral argument would not significantly aid 

this Court’s decisional process.  If, however, the Court deems oral argument 

necessary, the Board requests that it be permitted to participate. 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED 

The Act’s protection for employees to engage in concerted activities for the 

purpose of mutual aid or protection ensures the right of employees to complain 

concertedly to third parties—including the employer’s customers—regarding 

legitimate employee concerns.  Yet, that right may not be exercised with total 

impunity, and an employee complaint to a third party will lose its protected status 

if it is maliciously false.   

The instant petition for review turns on a single issue:  Whether substantial 

evidence supports the Board’s conclusion that the Company’s termination of 

Petitioners was lawful because the only employee conduct alleged to enjoy the 

Act’s protection was tainted by a maliciously false accusation that the Company 

instructed drivers to “fix” their logbooks.  
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

This case came before the Board on a complaint issued by the Board’s 

General Counsel on January 23, 2002, pursuant to charges filed by Petitioners.  

(GX 1(a), (c), (e) & (g), JA 246-57.)  The General Counsel’s complaint alleged, in 

relevant part, that the Company violated Section 8(a)(1) of the Act, 29 U.S.C. 

§ 158(a)(1), by terminating Petitioners because they “concertedly complained . . . 

regarding the wages, hours, and working conditions of [the Company’s] 

employees, by sending a letter to . . . [the Company’s] largest customer, Honda 

Motor.”2  (GX 1(g), JA 253.)  The Company, answering the complaint, denied that 

it had violated the Act as alleged.  (GX 1(i), JA 259-60.) 

The matter was heard before an administrative law judge, who took evidence 

on disputed facts and heard arguments in a hearing on May 20, 2003.  (D&O 5-11, 

JA 9-15.)  Although Petitioners were parties to the proceedings by virtue of their 

                                                 
2 The complaint also alleged that the Company unlawfully fired another 

employee, Emerson Young, for engaging in the same protected activity.  (GX 1(g), 
JA 251-54.)  Furthermore, the complaint alleged that the Company violated 
Section 8(a)(1) by threatening an employee with discharge because of his union 
activities, by inviting an employee to resign because of the employee’s union 
activities, by creating the impression that it was engaging in surveillance of the 
protected concerted activity of its employees, by interrogating employees 
concerning their protected concerted activities, and by interrogating an employee 
concerning his union activities.  (Id.) 
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filing the underlying unfair labor practice charges,3 they did not exercise their right 

to retain counsel, call witnesses, introduce evidence, make oral arguments, or 

participate in the hearing (other than as fact witnesses).4  On July 26, 2003, the 

judge issued a decision and recommended order finding that the Company violated 

Section 8(a)(1) by discharging Petitioners “because they engaged in, or because 

[the Company] believed that they engaged in” protected concerted activity in the 

form of a letter that was sent to the Company’s customer.  (Id.)  

The Company sought review of the judge’s decision by filing exceptions 

before the Board.  (Exceptions 1-3, JA 77-79.)  The General Counsel filed an 

answering brief urging the Board to affirm the judge’s conclusion.5  In particular, 

                                                 

          (continued …) 
         

3 See 29 C.F.R. § 102.8; see also Lincoln Tech. Inst., Inc., 256 NLRB 176, 
176-77 (1981), petition for review denied sub nom. Giacalone v. NLRB, 682 F.2d 
427 (3d. Cir. 1982). 

4 See 29 C.F.R. § 102.38 (providing that all parties have the right: “to appear 
at … [the] hearing in person, by counsel, or by other representative[;] to call, 
examine, and cross-examine witnesses[;] and to introduce into the record 
documentary or other evidence”); id. § 102.42 (providing that parties may present 
oral argument and submit to the judge a brief or proposed findings and 
conclusions).  

5 Although the General Counsel urged the Board to find that Petitioners’ 
firings violated the Act, the General Counsel must adopt a different position on 
appeal in defending the Board’s dismissal of the complaint.  That is because the 
Board has delegated to the General Counsel the responsibility to resist petitions for 
review of Board orders.  See Vapor Blast Ind. Shop Worker’s Ass’n v. Simon, 305 
F.2d 717, 719 (7th Cir. 1962) (citing 20 Fed. Reg. 2175 (Apr. 1, 1955), as 
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the General Counsel argued that the specific protected activity at issue was “the 

sending of a letter stating employee grievances to . . . [the Company’s] primary 

customer,” and that the Company violated the Act by firing Petitioners “for having 

engaged in this protected concerted activity or because [the Company] believed 

they had . . . .”  (GC Answering Brief 2-3, JA 81-82.)  Petitioners did not exercise 

their rights as parties to file cross-exceptions or an answering brief opposing the 

Company’s exceptions.6  (D&O 1, JA 5.) 

On July 24, 2006, the Board issued its Decision and Order overruling the 

judge’s recommendation and dismissing the complaint insofar as it alleged that the 

Company violated the Act by discharging Petitioners.7  (D&O 1-3, JA 5-7.)  That 

Decision and Order is summarized in greater detail below.  Following the issuance 

                                                                                                                                                             
amended, 23 Fed. Reg. 6966 (Sep. 8, 1958), as amended, 24 Fed. Reg. 6666 (Aug. 
12, 1959)).  

6 See 29 C.F.R. § 102.46(a) & (d)(1); see also JPH Mgmt., Inc., 337 NLRB 
72, 72 n.1 (2001) (holding that a charging party may file exceptions, even though it 
did not present a case at the hearing and merely “piggy-backed” on the General 
Counsel’s case). 

7 The Board also found that the Company did not violate the Act by firing 
Ernest Young, who has not petitioned for review of the Board’s decision here.  
(D&O 1-3, JA 5-7.) Furthermore, the Board affirmed the judge’s findings that the 
Company committed several unfair labor practices that are not at issue in this 
appeal.  (Id.) 
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of the Board’s Order, Petitioners did not move for reconsideration, rehearing, or 

reopening of the record.8

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

I.  THE BOARD’S FINDINGS OF FACT 

The Company provides freight delivery services from a facility in East 

Liberty, Ohio.  (D&O 1, JA 5; GX1(i), JA 259.)  The Company’s largest customer 

is Honda of America (“Honda”), which manufactures automobiles at a factory 

located near the Company’s East Liberty facility.  (D&O 1, JA 5; Tr 138, JA 230 

(Robert Wheeler).)  John Jolliff and Steven Daniels worked for the Company as 

truckdrivers.  (D&O 1, JA 5; Tr 58-59, 94, JA 150-51 (John Jolliff), 186 (Steven 

Daniels).)  Jolliff began working for the Company in 1995; Daniels began in 1994.  

(Id.) 

Federal regulations require truckdrivers, such as those employed by the 

Company, to maintain logbooks to record their duty status.  See 49 C.F.R. § 395.8.  

Those logbooks may be reviewed by federal authorities to ensure compliance with 

regulations that limit the hours drivers may drive in a particular time period.  See 

49 C.F.R. § 395.3.  Making false reports in a logbook can subject the driver or his 

                                                 
8 See 29 C.F.R. § 102.48(d). 
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employer to civil liability in agency proceedings,9 or to criminal prosecution 

resulting in fines and imprisonment.10  

The Company links the receipt of certain performance bonuses to time 

targets it sets for drivers’ delivery runs.  (D&O 2, JA 6; Tr 78-80, JA 170-72 

(Jolliff).)  In April 2002, Jolliff approached John Cox, the Company’s safety 

director, to complain about this practice.  (Id.)  Jolliff contended that the targets 

were set in such a way that would encourage drivers to falsify their logs if they 

wanted to receive the full performance bonus.  (Id.)  Regardless of Jolliff’s 

complaints, the Company did not instruct drivers to falsify logs in order to comply 

with the targets set for the drivers’ performance bonuses.  (D&O 2 JA 6; Tr 78-80, 

141, JA 170-72 (Jolliff), 233 (Wheeler).) 

In May 2002, some of the Company’s employees complained to truckdriver 

Emerson Young about their working conditions and expressed interest in joining a 

union.  (D&O 1, JA 5; Tr 21-24, JA 113-16 (Emerson Young).)  Young had earlier 

contacted the United Auto Workers about organizing the employees at the East 

                                                 
9 See 49 U.S.C. § 521(b)(2); Arctic Express, Inc. v. U.S. Dep’t of Transp., 

194 F.3d 767, 768 (6th Cir. 1999). 
10 See 18 U.S.C. § 1001 (prohibiting the making of materially false 

statements in matters within the jurisdiction of federal departments and agencies); 
see also United States v. McCord, Inc., 143 F.3d 1095, 1096-97 (8th Cir. 1998). 
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Liberty facility, but the union told him that an organizing campaign at the 

Company would have to wait until a campaign at Honda also became active.  (Id.)  

The complaining employees decided to send a letter to the Company’s 

corporate management describing problems with working conditions at the East 

Liberty facility.  (Id.)  The employees felt that such a step was warranted because 

local managers had not responded to earlier complaints.  (Id.)  Young agreed to 

draft the letter, and he proceeded to collect work-related complaints for inclusion 

in the letter by discussing working conditions with roughly 80 to 90 of his fellow 

employees.  (D&O 2, JA 6; Tr 24-25, JA 116-17 (Young).)  Jolliff and Daniels 

were among those who voiced complaints to Young during this process.  (D&O 2, 

JA 6; Tr 70, 96, JA 162 (Jolliff), 188 (Daniels).)   

Young completed the letter and, on August 12, 2002, sent it to the 

Company’s corporate management in Jacksonville, Florida, as well as to Honda’s 

management in East Liberty.  (D&O 1, JA 5; RX1, JA 272-74.)  The letter stated 

that it was a “protest” of the “management [and] managers” at the Company’s 

facility.  (Id.)  The letter was not signed but indicated that it was sent from the dock 

workers and drivers at the facility.  (Id.)  In addition to listing complaints about 

alleged mistreatment by managers and poor benefits, the letter made the following 

assertion regarding drivers’ logbooks: 

Some drivers are being asked to fix their logbooks to make extra runs.  
These drivers are being asked by dispatchers and management to do 



-10- 

these runs and either fix their logbooks or turn their heads on it.  Mr. 
John Cox once said he would not go to jail for fixing logbooks for 
anyone.  Well Mr. Cox pack your suitcase, it has and is presently 
being done at [East Liberty]. 
 

(Id.)  The letter closed by stating that the employees would have “no choice” but to 

seek union representation “if this treatment continues.”  (Id.)  It also threatened that 

“[c]opies and information” would be sent to two television stations if the Company 

did not resolve this situation.  (Id.)   

After receiving its copy of the letter, officials at Honda contacted the 

Company’s management in East Liberty and asked for assurances that there would 

be no “disruption” at the facility.  (D&O 2, JA 6; Tr 120-25, JA 212-17 

(Wheeler).)  The Company conducted an investigation to determine who was 

responsible for sending the letter.  (Id.)  After completing the investigation, the 

Company discharged Young, Jolliff, and Daniels for their participation in the 

letter-writing incident.  (Id.) 

II.  THE BOARD’S CONCLUSIONS AND ORDER 

On the foregoing facts, the Board (Chairman Battista, Member Schaumber 

concurring in relevant part, and Member Walsh dissenting) overruled the 

recommendation of the judge and dismissed the General Counsel’s complaint 

insofar as it charged the Company with violating the Act by terminating 

Petitioners.  (D&O 1-3, JA 5-7.)  In agreement with the Company’s exceptions, the 

Board found that the Act did not protect the only employee conduct alleged to 
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enjoy the Act’s protection (namely, the circulation of the letter to Honda), and that 

the Company therefore did not commit an unfair labor practice by firing Petitioners 

for that conduct.  (Id.) 

The Board noted the well-established rule that an otherwise protected 

employee communication with a third party will lose the protection of the Act if it 

contains statements that are “maliciously false, i.e., statements made with 

knowledge of their falsity or with reckless disregard for their truth or falsity.”  

(D&O 2, JA 6.)  Based on the facts found by the judge—and, in particular, the 

judge’s crediting of Jolliff’s unrebutted testimony that the Company had not asked 

employees to falsify logbooks—the Board concluded that “the letter lost the 

protection of the Act because the statements in the letter accusing the [the 

Company] of asking employees to ‘fix’ the logbooks were maliciously false.”11  

(Id.) 

                                                 
11 In so doing, a majority of the Board declined to reach the primary ground 

for reversing the judge’s recommendation urged by the Company—namely, that 
Petitioners forfeited the Act’s protection by publicly disparaging the Company, 
under NLRB v. Local Union No. 1229, International Brotherhood of Electrical 
Workers, 346 U.S. 465 (1953).  (D&O 2 n.3; JA 6.)  Because the Board did not 
reach the disparagement issue, it is not before this Court to review.  See SEC v. 
Chenery Corp., 318 U.S. 80, 95 (1943) (holding that a reviewing court may uphold 
an agency’s action only on the grounds stated by the agency); accord Albertson’s 
Inc. v. NLRB, 301 F.3d 441, 453 (6th Cir. 2002). 
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Following the issuance of the Board’s Order, neither the General Counsel 

nor Petitioners moved for reconsideration, rehearing, or reopening of the record.  

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The Act protects the right of employees to complain concertedly to their 

employer’s customers about legitimate employee concerns.  Yet, that right may not 

be exercised with total impunity, and an employee complaint to a third party will 

lose its protected status if it is maliciously false.  Here, the Board concluded that 

the circulation of a letter to the Company’s largest customer lost the Act’s 

protection because it contained the maliciously false accusation that the Company 

instructed drivers to “fix” their logbooks.  That conclusion is entitled to deference 

because it is supported by substantial evidence.  

The Board justifiably found that the accusation in the letter—that “[s]ome 

drivers are being asked to fix their logbooks to make extra runs”—was a false 

statement of fact.  In finding that the statement was false, the Board primarily 

relied on one of Petitioners’ own concessions at the hearing that the Company did 

not tell drivers to falsify logs.  There is no merit to Petitioners’ claim that the 

specific accusation of log-fixing in the letter is protected because drivers were 

under indirect pressure to falsify logs; on the contrary, there is no indication 

whatsoever that failing to meet time targets placed drivers in jeopardy of discipline 

or termination.  Equally unavailing is Petitioners’ claim that the statement in the 
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letter was mere “rhetorical hyperbole,” as any reader would understand the specific 

accusation in the letter as an account of real facts. 

Substantial evidence also supports the Board’s conclusion that the letter’s 

log-fixing accusation was made with “malice.”  Given the factual specificity of the 

false accusation, as well as the absence of any credible evidence from which to 

conclude that one might non-recklessly believe the accusation to be true, the Board 

permissibly inferred that the statement was published with actual knowledge of its 

falsity or serious doubts as to the truth.  Petitioners make no headway by disputing 

whether the false statement was motivated by animosity or hatred of the Company.  

As a legal matter, hatred or a desire to injure is not necessary to find malice; and, 

as a factual matter, Petitioners’ argument cannot be squared with the well-

supported finding that a statement by one of Petitioners suggests that the 

employees were in fact motivated by a desire to punish the Company.   

Petitioners two remaining arguments are jurisdictionally barred and are, in 

any event, without merit.  First, Petitioners argue for the first time on appeal that, 

even if Young’s conduct was unprotected, their concerted activity remained 

protected because it consisted of merely airing their grievances to Young.  Not 

only is that theory jurisdictionally barred because it was never raised before the 

Board, but it also fails as an improper attempt to second-guess the General 

Counsel’s unreviewable authority to frame the case in accordance with his 
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prosecutorial prerogatives.  Second, Petitioners fare no better in arguing that the 

Board’s ruling would unduly chill the exercise of employees’ Section 7 rights in 

the future.  At the outset, Petitioners are jurisdictionally barred from raising those 

policy concerns for the first time in this Court; furthermore, by seeking judicial 

relief on pure policy grounds, Petitioners are improperly asking this Court to usurp 

the Board’s central policymaking function. 

Here, because the Board reasonably found that the only Section 7 activity 

alleged by the General Counsel was rendered unprotected by virtue of a 

maliciously false statement, Section 8(a)(1) did not bar the Company from firing 

Petitioners.  Accordingly, the petition for review must be denied. 

ARGUMENT 

SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE SUPPORTS THE BOARD’S CONCLUSION 
THAT THE COMPANY’S TERMINATION OF PETITIONERS WAS 
LAWFUL BECAUSE THE ONLY EMPLOYEE CONDUCT ALLEGED TO 
ENJOY THE ACT’S PROTECTION WAS TAINTED BY A 
MALICIOUSLY FALSE ACCUSATION THAT THE COMPANY 
INSTRUCTED DRIVERS TO “FIX” THEIR LOGBOOKS 

 
Section 7 of the Act, 29 U.S.C. § 157, guarantees employees the right to, 

among other things, engage in “concerted activities for the purpose of . . . mutual 

aid or protection.”  Section 8(a)(1) of the Act, 29 U.S.C. § 158(a)(1), secures that 

right by making it an unfair labor practice for an employer to “interfere with, 

restrain, or coerce employees in the exercise of the rights guaranteed” by Section 7.  

An employer therefore violates Section 8(a)(1) by discharging employees because 
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of their protected activity.  See NLRB v. Washington Aluminum Co., 370 U.S. 9, 

17-18 (1962).  

The protections of the Act are construed broadly, especially for employees 

who have no designated bargaining representative to speak on their behalf.  See id. 

at 14; Hagopian & Sons, Inc. v. NLRB, 395 F.2d 947, 953 (6th Cir. 1968).  

Nevertheless, those protections are far from absolute, as the Act is not a license for 

employees to behave with complete impunity.  See Hagopian & Sons, 395 F.2d at 

952 (“All concerted activity is not protected by the Act, however, even if it is in 

protest of conditions of employment.”).  Activity that might otherwise be protected 

by Section 7 can be “manifested in a manner that exceeds the protection of the 

Act.”  Nor-Cal Beverage Co., 330 NLRB 610, 611 n.5 (2000); see also Hagopian 

& Sons, 395 F.2d at 952-53.  An employer is within its rights to terminate an 

employee for conduct exceeding the Act’s protection because, where “the activity 

for which employees are discharged is not protected by [S]ection 7, there can be no 

violation of [S]ection 8(a)(1).”  Food Fair Stores, Inc. v. NLRB, 491 F.2d 388, 393 

n.5 (3d Cir. 1974). 

As we now show, substantial evidence supports the Board’s conclusion that 

the only employee conduct alleged to enjoy the Act’s protection—namely, the 

delivery of a letter complaining about working conditions to the Company’s largest 

customer—exceeded the Act’s protection because the letter falsely and maliciously 
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accused the Company of instructing drivers to “fix” their logbooks.  As a result, 

the Board properly concluded that the Company’s termination of Petitioners for 

this conduct did not violate the Act.  Furthermore, we show that Petitioners’ 

various arguments to the contrary were not preserved for this Court’s review and 

are, in any event, without merit. 

A.  Applicable Legal Principles and Standard of Review 
 
It is well established that Section 7 protects the right of employees to engage 

in concerted communications with third parties—including the employer’s 

customers—regarding legitimate employee concerns, such as terms and conditions 

of employment and grievances.  See Compuware Corp. v. NLRB, 134 F.3d 1285, 

1291 (6th Cir. 1998); see also Eastex, Inc. v. NLRB, 437 U.S. 556, 565 (1978) 

(holding that the Act protects employee efforts “to improve terms and conditions 

of employment . . . through channels outside the immediate employee-employer 

relationship”).  Moreover, because the Act encourages freewheeling debate during 

labor disputes, it protects employees’ use of intemperate, abusive, and even 

inaccurate statements in those disputes.  Davis Co. v. United Furniture Workers, 

674 F.2d 557, 562 (6th Cir. 1982).  After all, “[l]abor disputes are ordinarily heated 

affairs” in which “[b]oth labor and management often speak bluntly and recklessly, 

embellishing their respective positions with imprecatory language.”  Linn v. Plant 

Guard Workers, 383 U.S. 53, 58 (1966). 
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The Board draws an unwavering line, however, at the use of appeals to third 

parties as a “license to injure [the employer] . . . intentionally by circulating 

defamatory or insulting material.”  Id. at 61.  In such cases, the Board will 

withhold the Act’s protection for false statements made with actual malice—that 

is, with knowledge of falsity or reckless disregard of the truth.  Id.; Compuware 

Corp., 134 F.3d at 1291.  It need not be shown that the false statement was 

motivated by hatred, spite, ill will, or desire to injure.  See Old Dominion Branch 

No. 496, Nat’l Ass’n Letter Carriers v. Austin, 418 U.S. 264, 281 (1974). 

This Court’s review of the Board’s order is limited, as the Board’s 

determination whether certain activity enjoys the protection of the Act is “entitled 

to great deference.”  Compuware Corp., 134 F.3d at 1288.  This Court will accept 

the Board’s interpretations of the Act so long as they are reasonable, and it will 

uphold the Board’s factual findings if they are supported by substantial evidence.  

See Temp-Masters, Inc. v. NLRB, 460 F.3d 684, 688 (6th Cir. 2006) (citing 29 

U.S.C. § 160(e) & (f)).   

That deferential standard of review is not altered merely because the Board 

reversed the recommendations of the administrative law judge.  See W.F. Bolin Co. 

v. NLRB, 70 F.3d 863, 870 (6th Cir. 1995) (citing Universal Camera Corp. v. 

NLRB, 340 U.S. 474, 488-94 (1951)).  Although the judge’s findings constitute 

part of the record for review, the Board—not the judge—is ultimately vested with 
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the responsibility for determining whether an unfair labor practice has been 

committed.  See Universal Camera Corp., 340 U.S. 497-98.  Thus, no special 

weight is given to the judge’s conclusions where, as here, the disagreement 

between the Board and the judge turns only upon the inferences drawn from the 

facts found and the application of those facts and inferences to the Board’s 

interpretations of the Act.  See Laborers’ Dist. Council v. NLRB, 501 F.2d 868, 

873 n.16 (D.C. Cir. 1974). 

B.    Substantial Evidence Supports the Board’s Conclusion That 
the Letter’s Accusation That the Company Instructed 
Drivers To “Fix” Logbooks Was Maliciously False and 
Therefore Unprotected 

 
In the proceedings before the Board, the General Counsel’s sole theory of 

liability under Section 8(a)(1) was that Section 7 protected the circulation of a 

letter to the Company’s largest customer complaining about working conditions at 

the Company, and that the Company unlawfully terminated Young, Jolliff, and 

Daniels because they engaged in, or because the Company believed that they 

engaged in, that allegedly protected conduct.  Confronted with that theory of the 

case, as well as the Company’s admission that it fired all three employees for the 

letter-writing incident, the Board’s inquiry was limited to “whether that activity 

lost its protection under the Act.”  Nor-Cal Beverage, 330 NLRB at 611.   

The allegedly protected letter contained the accusation that “some drivers 

are being asked to fix their logbooks to make extra runs.”  (RX1, JA 273.)  The 
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Board concluded that this accusation was a false statement of fact and, further, that 

it was made with knowledge of its falsity or reckless disregard for the truth.  

Accordingly, the Board found that the letter was rendered unprotected under 

established Board law.  Because those findings are supported by substantial 

evidence on the record, the petition for must be denied. 

1. Substantial evidence supports the Board’s finding 
that the letter’s accusation of log-fixing was false 

 
The Board found that the accusation in the letter—that “[s]ome drivers are 

being asked to fix their logbooks to make extra runs”—was a false statement of 

fact.  That conclusion is supported by substantial evidence.  Indeed, for their part, 

Petitioners make no serious effort to contend that the statement is literally true, and 

their attempts to portray the statement as tantamount to the truth or a mere 

expression of hyperbole are both unavailing.   

In finding that the log-fixing allegation was factually false, the Board 

primarily relied on Jolliff’s testimony at the hearing.  That testimony, which was 

credited by the judge and unrebutted by any other witness, is as follows: 

Q.  So you’re accusing Mr. Basinger [the Company’s account 
manager] of telling you to falsify logs? 
 
A.  He didn’t say falsify logs. 
 
Q.  What did he say? 
 
A.  He was setting up the routes so that you would have to falsify your 
logs to legally run the route. 
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* * * 

 
Q.  Why would you have to falsify your logs? 
 
A.  If you want to make your performance bonus at the end of the 
month, if they show you getting there late, then that affects your 
performance bonus. 
 

(Tr 78-80; JA 170-72 (Jolliff) (emphasis added).)  In addition, the Company’s 

director of operations for the Honda account, Robert Wheeler, testified that the 

Company conducted an audit of its logbooks after the letter was sent and found no 

falsification.  (Tr 141, JA 233 (Wheeler).)  Petitioners do not dispute the veracity 

of Jolliff’s or Wheeler’s testimony.  Nor do they point to any evidence indicating 

that drivers were, in fact, instructed to falsify their logs.  Indeed, they largely 

concede that, taken literally, the statement in the letter is not true.  (See Br 16 

(“[The Company] did not expressly instruct drivers to ‘fix their logs’. . . .”).) 

In addition, there is no doubt that the false accusation of fixing logbooks was 

a very serious matter.  See Altex Ready Mixed Concrete Corp., 223 NLRB 696, 

699-700 (1976) (concluding that the Act’s protection is forfeited by serious or 

prejudicial falsities, not by minor or harmless inaccuracies), enforced, 542 F.2d 

295 (5th Cir. 1976).  Drivers’ logs must be maintained pursuant to federal 

regulations, and the logs may be reviewed by federal authorities to ensure 

compliance with limits on driving times.  See 49 C.F.R. § 395.3.  Failure to 

maintain accurate logbooks could subject the Company and its drivers to both civil 
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and criminal liability.  See 49 U.S.C. § 521 (establishing civil penalties for failing 

to maintain accurate logbooks); 18 U.S.C. § 1001 (establishing criminal penalties 

for the making of materially false statements in matters within the jurisdiction of 

federal departments and agencies).  Indeed, the letter sent to Honda acknowledged 

these possible consequences by suggesting that the Company’s safety manager 

could “go to jail for fixing logbooks.”  (RX1, JA 273.) 

 Furthermore, the letter’s accusation of this potentially criminal wrongdoing 

was neither vague nor generic.  Instead, the letter purports to offer a host of 

particulars as to how the wrongdoing took place.  For instance, the letter states who 

received the instructions to falsify logs (“[s]ome drivers”).  It states also who gave 

those instructions (“dispatchers and management”), how the conduct was taking 

place (“drivers are being asked . . . [to] either fix their logbooks or turn their heads 

on it”), and when the conduct occurred (“it has and is presently being done”).  (Id.)  

Thus, the Board’s finding that the letter’s accusation was a false statement of fact 

is well grounded in the record. 

Without disputing the literal falsity of the log-fixing accusation, Petitioners 

challenge the Board’s finding of falsity on two grounds.  They argue that the 

accusation is tantamount to the truth because drivers were under indirect pressure 

to falsify logs.  Failing that, they also contend that the accusation is mere rhetorical 
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hyperbole that would not be understood as a statement of fact.  Both contentions 

are mistaken.   

In essence, Petitioners’ first argument is that the log-fixing accusation was 

more-or-less true, and the letter therefore retained the Act’s protection, because the 

time targets for performance bonuses presented drivers with “an untenable choice: 

either drive unsafely and be on time, or drive safely and fudge the records.”  

(Br 16.)  But even on the generous assumption that the time targets were too 

ambitious to be met, there was no “untenable choice” that would justify making a 

concededly false accusation.  Instead, the unrebutted evidence before the Board 

establishes that the time targets were used only for calculating drivers’ bonuses 

(D&O 2, JA 6; Tr 78-80, JA 170-72 (Jolliff)), and there is no indication 

whatsoever that failing to meet time targets placed employees in jeopardy of 

discipline or termination.12  As the Board observed, “this was hardly a request 

from management that employees fraudulently record their log book entries, as 

described by the employees in the letter.”  (D&O 2, JA 6.)   

                                                 
12 Especially puzzling is Petitioners’ claim (Br 20-21) that the Board 

somehow reversed the judge’s decision to credit Jolliff’s testimony on this issue.  
Jolliff’s testimony fully supports the Board’s finding that the Company did not ask 
drivers to fix the logs, as well as the conclusion that the bonus targets did not 
effectively require drivers to fix logs.  That is why the Board expressly relied 
upon—and in no way discredited—Jolliff’s account.  (D&O 2, JA 6.) 
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Equally unconvincing is Petitioners’ suggestion (Br 13) that the letter’s log-

fixing accusation is mere “rhetorical hyperbole.”  To be sure, a false employee 

statement can be protected as hyperbole, but such protection applies only where the 

statement “would not be treated by a hearer or reader as intended to be literally 

believed.”  Davis Co. v. United Furniture Workers, 674 F.2d 557, 562 (6th Cir. 

1982).  In other words, a statement qualifies as protected hyperbole only when it is 

“clearly used in a rhetorical rather than a literal sense.”  Id.  Here, the accusation 

that the Company instructed drivers to falsify their logs—replete with factual 

particulars as to who, how, and when—is far from the kind of statement that “even 

the most careless reader must have perceived . . . [as] no more than rhetorical 

hyperbole.”  Greenbelt Cooperative Publishing Ass’n v. Bresler, 398 U.S. 6, 14 

(1970).  Rather, careful and careless readers alike would understand the statement 

as a factual representation accusing the Company and its management of engaging 

in specific (and potentially criminal) wrongdoing.  

Petitioners’ reliance on Pioneer Finishing Corp. v. NLRB, 667 F.2d 199 (1st 

Cir. 1981), is therefore misplaced.  In that case, an employee’s accusations that a 

spate of recent workplace injuries were “serious” and “crippling” retained the 

Act’s protection because they would “not to be construed as fact by fellow 

employees” and were instead an “argument typical to labor disputes.”  Id. at 203-

04.  Here, by contrast, the letter’s particular accusation of wrongdoing was neither 
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a “lusty and imaginative expression of . . . contempt” nor typical of a labor dispute 

over employees’ dissatisfaction with their managers and working conditions.  Old 

Dominion Branch No. 496, Nat’l Ass’n Letter Carriers v. Austin, 418 U.S. 264, 

285-86 (1974) (concluding that, in the context of a labor dispute, the statement that 

a strike-replacement worker was a “traitor to his God, his country, his family and 

his class” could not be construed as a representation of fact).  Rather, the letter’s 

specific accusation that “[s]ome drivers” had been asked by “dispatchers and 

management” to “fix” logs (or “turn their heads on it”) is precisely the kind of 

statement that could be construed as an unembellished account of real facts.  All of 

that being so, the Board properly found that the log-fixing accusation in the letter 

was a false statement of fact. 

2. Substantial evidence supports the Board’s finding 
that the statement was made with knowledge of its 
falsity or reckless disregard of the truth 

 
The Board further concluded that the letter’s log-fixing accusation was made 

with “malice”—that is, with knowledge of its falsity or with reckless disregard for 

the truth.  (D&O 2, JA 6).  That conclusion is also based on substantial evidence on 

the record, and Petitioners’ arguments to the contrary are without merit.  As a 

result, the Board properly concluded that the letter was not protected by the Act 

and that Petitioners were therefore vulnerable to lawful termination. 
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Jolliff testified unambiguously that the Company had not asked any drivers 

to falsify their logs to make extra runs.  (D&O 2, JA 6; Tr 78-80, JA 170-72 

(Jolliff).)  Jolliff’s testimony was buttressed by Wheeler’s account of the 

Company’s post-letter audit finding no falsification of the logs.  (Tr 141, JA 233 

(Wheeler).)  Furthermore, knowledge that the Company had merely set ambitious 

time targets—not that it had actually instructed employees to falsify logs—appears 

to have been widespread, as Jolliff testified without contradiction that “several” 

other drivers had complained to management about the Company’s practices.  (Tr 

79-80, JA 171-72 (Jolliff).)   

No evidence was offered to refute those witnesses.  Nor was any evidence 

offered to suggest that one could draw the erroneous, but non-reckless, conclusion 

that the Company had, in some fashion, instructed drivers to falsify their logs.  But 

more to the point, there is not a scintilla of evidence indicating that one could have 

been anything but reckless in asserting that such misconduct took place in the 

precise manner specified in the letter—namely, that both “presently” and in the 

past, “dispatchers and management” had told “[s]ome drivers” to “fix their 

logbooks” or at least “turn their heads on it.”13   

                                                 

          (continued …) 
         

13 To be sure, Young gave conclusory testimony that he was not aware of 
anything in the letter that was false.  (Tr 39-40, JA 131-32 (Young).)  But the judge 
did not mention—much less, specifically credit—that vague testimony.  Nor was 
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Given the factual specificity of the false accusation, as well as the absence of 

any credible evidence from which to conclude that one might non-recklessly 

believe the specific accusation to be true, the Board permissibly inferred that the 

statement was published with actual knowledge of its falsity or, at least, with 

“serious doubts as to the truth.”  Davis Co., 674 F.2d at 562 (quoting St. Amant v. 

Thompson, 390 U.S. 727, 731 (1968)). 

Petitioners dispute the well-supported finding of malice by arguing that the 

false statement was not motivated by animosity or hatred of the Company.  (See Br 

15 (arguing that malice requires showing of “intent to harm the employer” or 

“pique and vengeance”); id. 20 (arguing that malice requires “ill will, hatred or 

personal spite”).)  As a legal matter, that argument misapprehends the contours of 

the actual malice standard.  The Supreme Court has explained that, in this context, 

the term “malice” is used as a “shorthand expression” for the requirement of 

showing “knowledge of falsity or reckless disregard of the truth.”  Austin, 418 U.S. 

at 281.  Whether a speaker acted with “hatred, spite, ill will, or desire to injure” is 

                                                                                                                                                             
that testimony relied upon by any party before the Board.  The Board therefore did 
not err by giving such conclusory and self-serving testimony no weight.  See W.F. 
Bolin Co. v. NLRB, 70 F.3d 863, 874 (6th Cir. 1995) (noting that Board need not 
credit vague, self-serving, or conclusory testimony); NLRB v. Brooks Cameras, 
Inc., 691 F.2d 912, 915 (9th Cir. 1982) (explaining that “the Board is not required 
to accept [a party’s] self-serving declarations . . . , but may draw its own 
inferences, giving such statements the weight it deems appropriate”). 
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therefore not necessary to find malice.  Id.  And, as a factual matter, Petitioners’ 

argument cannot be squared with the Board’s well-supported finding that Jolliff’s 

statement at a safety meeting—to the effect that management should be 

“disciplined”—suggests that the employees were in fact motivated by a desire to 

punish the Company.  (D&O 2, JA 6; Tr 68, JA 180 (Jolliff).)  Because the Board 

justifiably found that the log-fixing accusation in the letter was both false and 

made with actual malice, the Board properly concluded that sending the letter was 

not protected by Section 7 and that the Company did not violate Section 8(a)(1) by 

terminating Petitioners. 

C. Petitioners’ Remaining Arguments Are Jurisdictionally Barred 
and Lack Merit 

 
In addition to disputing that the statements in the letter were factually false 

and made with actual malice, Petitioners advance two arguments against the 

Board’s Order.  First, they complain that the Board improperly held Jolliff and 

Daniels responsible for Young’s false statements.  Second, they contend that, as a 

policy matter, the Board’s decision will unduly chill the exercise of employees’ 

Section 7 rights in the future.  These arguments, which are raised for the first time 

on appeal, have not been preserved for this Court’s review.  Moreover, they lack 

merit because they seek to undermine the prosecutorial independence of the 

General Counsel and the policymaking function of the Board. 



-28- 

1. Petitioners’ attempt to inject a new theory of liability 
is jurisdictionally barred and conflicts with the 
General Counsel’s authority over the issuance and 
prosecution of unfair labor practice complaints  

 
Petitioners argue that the Board should have found their terminations 

unlawful because there is no evidence that they “drafted or endorsed the letter or 

otherwise made similar [false] statements to [a] third party.”  (Br 17.)  In essence, 

Petitioners attempt to separate their lot from Young’s and argue that, while the 

Board may have permissibly found that Young forfeited his protection under the 

Act, his conduct was distinguishable from that of Jolliff and Daniels, which 

remained protected.  (Id. 17-18.)  That argument fails for two reasons.  First, this 

Court is jurisdictionally barred from considering such a belated argument.  Second, 

that argument seeks to improperly usurp the General Counsel’s statutory role as the 

master of the complaint and the theory of liability argued to the Board. 

Under Section 10(e) of the Act, “[n]o objection that has not been urged 

before the Board, its member, agent, or agency, shall be considered by the court 

. . . .”  29 U.S.C. § 160(e).14  This Court enforces that jurisdictional provision 

strictly, holding consistently that a litigant’s failure to present a question to the 
                                                 

14 The statute provides an exception for issues or objections that were not 
raised before the Board due to “extraordinary circumstances.”  29 U.S.C. § 160(e).  
That exception is inapplicable where, as here, the party had the opportunity to 
assert its new arguments by requesting rehearing before the Board.  See NLRB v. 
Sambo’s Restaurant, Inc., 641 F.2d 794, 796 (9th Cir. 1981). 
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Board precludes this Court from considering it on appeal.  See Southern Moldings, 

Inc. v. NLRB, 728 F.2d 805, 806 (6th Cir. 1984) (en banc) (citing Woelke & 

Romero Framing, Inc. v. NLRB, 456 U.S. 645, 665-66 (1982)); see also Temp-

Masters, Inc. v. NLRB, 460 F.3d 684, 690 & n.1 (6th Cir. 2006).  Adherence to the 

jurisdictional command of Section 10(e) results in “a win-win situation” because 

“it simultaneously enhances the efficacy of the agency, fosters judicial efficiency, 

and safeguards the integrity of the inter-branch review relationship.”  NLRB v. 

Saint-Gobain Abrasives, Inc., 426 F.3d 455, 459 (1st Cir. 2005). 

Here, neither Petitioners nor any other party presented the Board with the 

argument that Young’s alleged protected activity can or should be distinguished 

from that of Petitioners.  Instead, throughout the proceedings before the judge and 

the Board, the General Counsel presented a “unified front”—arguing consistently 

that Young, Jolliff, and Daniels were all insulated from discharge because the letter 

to Honda constituted concerted activity protected by Section 7.15  For their part, 

                                                 

          (continued …) 
         

15 (See GX1(g), JA 253 (alleging that Young, Jolliff, and Daniels 
“concertedly complained . . . regarding the wages, hours, and working conditions 
. . . by sending a letter to . . . [the Company’s] largest customer” and that the 
Company violated the Act by firing them because of this conduct);  GC ALJ Brief 
at 3-4, JA 58-59 (arguing “that the writing and distribution of the letter was 
protected concerted activity” and that the “[t]ermination of these three individuals 
for engaging in this activity or because [the Company] believed they engaged in 
the activity was therefore violative of Section 8(a)(l) of the Act”); GC Answering 
Brief at 2; JA 81 (arguing that “[t]he protected concerted activity involved the 
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Petitioners neither challenged this approach nor exercised their rights as parties to 

retain counsel, call witnesses, introduce evidence, make oral arguments, participate 

in the hearing (other than as fact witnesses), file briefs before the judge, submit 

exceptions to the Board, or file a motion for reconsideration.  Furthermore, given 

the General Counsel’s framing of the issues, the Company’s defense against the 

unfair labor practice charge involved no effort to distinguish between the conduct 

of Young and that of Jolliff and Daniels; instead, it focused entirely on whether the 

letter itself was written in a way that exceeded the Act’s protection.  (Exceptions 1-

3, JA 77-78.)  In short, there were “no objections, no arguments, absolutely 

nothing . . . in the record before the Board to suggest” the argument now brought 

before this Court.  NLRB v. Monson Trucking, Inc., 204 F.3d 822, 826-27 (8th Cir. 

2000).   

Petitioners’ failure to present its argument to the Board is not excused from 

Section 10(e)’s jurisdictional bar merely because the administrative law judge 

recommended finding that their termination was unlawful under the General 

Counsel’s theory of the case.  Once the Board ruled in the Company’s favor, 

Petitioners were at least required to file a motion for reconsideration informing the 

Board of their argument.  See Des Moines Mailers Union, Teamsters Local No. 
                                                                                                                                                             
sending of a letter stating employee grievances to [the Company’s] corporate 
offices and to its primary customer, Honda”).) 
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358 v. NLRB, 381 F.3d 767, 770 n.1 (8th Cir. 2004).  Although Petitioners chose to 

“piggy-back” on the General Counsel’s presentation throughout the proceedings 

before the judge and the Board, their status as parties entitled them to file such a 

motion, see 29 C.F.R. § 102.48(d)(1), and their failure to do so precludes this 

Court from reviewing their argument, see Southern Moldings, 728 F.2d at 806. 

Furthermore, Petitioners’ argument is not preserved merely because the 

Board remarked on the different roles of Young and Petitioners in creating the 

letter.  (See D&O 3 n.5, JA 7)  Section 10(e) “requires objection to the Board, and 

not discussion by the Board, before an issue may be presented in court . . . .”  Local 

900, Int’l Union of Electrical Workers v. NLRB, 727 F.2d 1184, 1191 (D.C. Cir. 

1984).  Otherwise, if any issue considered by the Board were automatically 

preserved for review, Section 10(e) would largely be nullified.  See Temp-Masters, 

Inc., 460 F.3d at 690 n.1; cf. Woelke & Romero Framing, 456 U.S. at 665-66 

(holding that, in the absence of a motion for reconsideration, Section 10(e) bars a 

court from considering a previously unraised issue that the Board nevertheless 

discussed and decided); International Ladies’ Garment Workers’ Union v. Quality 

Mfg. Co., 420 U.S. 276, 281 n.3 (1975) (same). 

Even in the absence of Section 10(e)’s strict jurisdictional bar, Petitioners’ 

argument would still fail as a patent attempt to end-run the General Counsel’s 

authority to control the theory of liability pursued before the Board.  Under Section 
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3(d) of the Act, the General Counsel is endowed with “final authority” with respect 

to the “issuance of complaints” and “the prosecution of such complaints before the 

Board.”  29 U.S.C. § 153(d).  As this Court declared after reviewing the text and 

history of that provision, Congress intended “to afford [the] General Counsel the 

broadest unreviewable discretion in the prosecution of unfair labor practices.”  

Jackman v. NLRB, 784 F.2d 759, 763 (6th Cir. 1986).  From this broad grant of 

authority, it follows that the General Counsel has discretion to articulate the theory 

of liability and to frame the issues which will be contested at a hearing.  See Brown 

v. NLRB, No. 89-5396, 1990 WL 8086, at *5 (6th Cir. Feb. 5, 1990) (unpublished 

per curiam).16  A litigant therefore may not expand the scope of the complaint or 

alter the theory of the case without first obtaining the consent of the General 

Counsel.  See American Postal Workers Union, AFL-CIO v. NLRB, 370 F.3d 25, 

27 (D.C. Cir. 2004). 

By separating themselves from Young, Petitioners are seeking to have the 

best of both worlds: on the one hand, they claim that their connection to Young’s 

letter protects them from discharge; and, on the other hand, they claim that they 

cannot be exposed to the consequences of the letter’s maliciously false accusation 

                                                 
16  This Court expressly permits the citation of unpublished opinions.  6th 

Cir. R. 28(g).  The Board is filing and serving a copy of the unpublished opinion 
by appending it to this brief.  Fed. R. App. P. 32.1. 
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because of their “limited role” in producing it.  (Br 17.)  To accomplish that feat, 

they contend that, even if Young’s conduct was unprotected, Jolliff and Daniels 

remained protected because their concerted activity consisted of airing their 

grievances to Young.  (Id. at 8-9, 18.)  That, however, was never the theory 

advanced by the General Counsel in the complaint, in the hearing before the judge, 

or in the proceedings before the Board.   

The General Counsel’s sole theory of liability advanced at each stage of this 

case was that the Section 7 activity protecting Young, Jolliff, and Daniels from 

discharge was the sending of the letter to the Company’s customer.  For instance, 

the General Counsel’s complaint alleges that Young, Jolliff, and Daniels 

“concertedly complained . . . regarding the wages, hours, and working conditions 

. . . by sending a letter to . . . [the Company’s] largest customer” and that the 

Company violated the Act by firing them because of this conduct.  (GX1(g), 

JA 253.)  Later, in its post-hearing brief to the judge, the General Counsel 

“maintain[ed] that the writing and distribution of the letter was protected concerted 

activity” and that the “[t]ermination of these three individuals for engaging in this 

activity or because [the Company] believed they engaged in the activity was 

therefore violative of Section 8(a)(l) of the Act.”  (GC ALJ Brief at 3-4, JA 58-89.)  

Finally, in its brief in opposition to the Company’s exceptions before the Board, 

the General Counsel asserted that “[t]he protected concerted activity involved the 
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sending of a letter stating employee grievances to [the Company’s] corporate 

offices and to its primary customer, Honda.”  (GC Answering Brief at 2, JA 81.)  

In sum, the General Counsel made no effort at any stage of the case to separate the 

lots of Young and Petitioners, or to argue that Petitioners engaged in activity other 

than sending the letter that protected them from discharge. 

The Board acknowledged the limits of the General Counsel’s theory of the 

case and concluded that it could not find for Petitioners under that theory.  As the 

Board stated:  

We recognize that only Young drafted the letter.  However, the letter 
indicated that it was sent from the dock workers and drivers at the 
facility.  Indeed, the General Counsel acknowledges (and contends) 
that the letter was the concerted activity of all three employees 
involved herein.  Thus, inasmuch as the letter was unprotected, the 
concerted activity of all three was unprotected.  
 

(D&O 3 n.5, JA 7.)  Although Petitioners deride as “logic-defying” the Board’s 

decision to rule based on the General Counsel’s sole theory of liability (Br 18), that 

decision comports with the General Counsel’s authority under the Act to frame the 

case in accordance with his prosecutorial prerogatives.  See Brown, 1990 WL 

8086, at *5. 

2. Petitioners’ complaints about the policy implications of the 
Board’s ruling are jurisdictionally barred and are, in any 
event, misplaced 

 
Finally, Petitioners lament the chilling effect the Board’s ruling could have 

in the future.  (Br 18-19, 23.)  They claim that other employees may forgo 
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protected complaints about their working conditions out of “fear of being 

misquoted” by another employee.  (Br 19.)  At the outset, Petitioners are 

jurisdictionally barred from raising those policy concerns for the first time in this 

Court.  In addition, it is the Board—not this Court—that Congress entrusted with 

the responsibility of setting national labor policy.  The policy concerns raised by 

Petitioners are also largely unfounded. 

Much like its argument concerning the limited roles of Jolliff and Daniels in 

the letter-writing incident, Petitioners never presented the Board with its argument 

that adverse policy implications would result from holding Petitioners’ conduct 

unprotected.  Such an argument could have been raised even after the Board’s 

decision had issued by filing a motion for reconsideration.  See Southern Moldings, 

728 F.2d at 806.  Because Petitioners failed to take any action to inform the Board 

of its argument, they are precluded for presenting it for the first time here.  Temp-

Masters, 460 F.3d at 690 & n.1.   

Even assuming the jurisdictional bar of Section 10(e) does not apply, 

Petitioners’ argument is still a non-starter.  By seeking judicial relief on pure 

policy grounds, Petitioners are improperly asking this Court to usurp the Board’s 

central policymaking function.  As the Supreme Court has observed: 

It is the Board on which Congress conferred the authority to develop 
and apply fundamental national labor policy . . . .  The function of 
striking [the balance between conflicting legitimate interests] to 
effectuate national labor policy is often a difficult and delicate 
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responsibility, which Congress committed primarily to the [Board] 
subject to limited judicial review.   
 

Beth Israel Hospital v. NLRB, 437 U.S. 483, 500-01 (1978).  Thus, the policy 

implications of its decision must be addressed by the Board in the first instance, 

not by a court on a petition for review. 

In any event, the Act already provides ample protection in the scenario 

envisioned by Petitioners.  It is well established that Section 7 protects the right of 

employees to speak with their colleagues about working conditions.  Id. at 491.  

Furthermore, under the Supreme Court’s holding in NLRB v. Burnup & Sims, Inc., 

379 U.S. 21, 23 (1984), an employer violates Section 8(a)(1) by discharging an 

employee based on the employer’s honest, but mistaken, belief that the employee 

engaged in some unprotected misconduct during otherwise protected activity.  

Thus, an employee will generally be protected against discharge when falsely 

accused of wrongdoing during the course of protected discussions with other 

employees.  See, e.g., Shamrock Foods Co. v. NLRB, 346 F.3d 1130, 1133-35 

(D.C. Cir. 2003); Webco Indus., Inc. v. NLRB, 217 F.3d 1306, 1312-15 (10th Cir. 

2000). 

In this case, however, the General Counsel neither alleged nor argued that 

the protected conduct of Jolliff and Daniels consisted of discussing workplace 

issues prior to the sending of Young’s maliciously false letter; instead, the only 

protected conduct put before the Board was the sending of the letter itself.  Nor did 
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the General Counsel pursue a theory of the case based on Burnup & Sims, under 

which Jolliff and Daniels were unlawfully fired based on the Company’s mistaken 

belief that they were responsible for the letter’s maliciously false statements.  

Although these acts of prosecutorial judgment are not reviewable here, see Brown, 

1990 WL 8086, at *5, that does not mean that employees are generally unprotected 

from discharge when falsely accused of misconduct in the course of known 

protected activity. 

In the end, one could argue that it was unjust and unwise for the Company to 

single out Petitioners and fire them for their lesser role in the creation of the letter.  

Jolliff and Daniels were, by all accounts, decent and hardworking employees.  But, 

as one court memorably put the matter: 

[M]anagement is for management.  Neither Board nor Court can 
second-guess it or give it gentle guidance by over-the-shoulder 
supervision.  Management can discharge for good cause, or bad cause, 
or no cause at all.  It has, as the master of its own business affairs, 
complete freedom with but one specific, definite qualification: it may 
not discharge when the real motivating purpose is to do that which 
[Section 8] forbids. 
 

Schwob Mfg. Co. v. NLRB, 297 F.2d 864, 870 (5th Cir. 1962).  Here, because the 

Board reasonably found that the only Section 7 activity alleged by the General 

Counsel was rendered unprotected by virtue of a maliciously false statement, 

Section 8(a)(1) did not bar the Company from firing Jolliff and Daniels.  

Accordingly, the petition for review must be denied. 
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CONCLUSION 

 For the reasons stated above, the Board respectfully requests that this Court 

deny the petition for review. 
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